FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
1/30/2019 9:59 AM  
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON  
CLERK

No. 96796-2

---

**IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 77787-4-I

---

RYAN M. PSZONKA as personal representative of the ESTATES OF KATIE RUTHVEN, HUNTER RUTHVEN, and WYATT RUTHVEN; AMY S. THOMPSON as personal representative of the ESTATES OF SHANE RUTHVEN, LEWIS VANDENBURG and JUDEE VANDENBURG; SONJA M. REW as personal representative of the ESTATE OF GLORIA HALSTEAD; STEVEN L. HALSTEAD as personal representative of the ESTATE OF JERRY HALSTEAD; and JAMIE A. LENNICK as personal representative of the ESTATE OF AMANDA LENNICK

## **III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

A. Does the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with *Brown v. MacPherson's, Inc.*, 86 Wn.2d 293, 545 P.2d 13 (1975), and this Court's instruction that an appellate court, on summary judgment, should not resolve disputed material facts or draw reasonable factual inferences against the non-moving party? *See Camicia v. Howard S. Wright Constr. Co.*, 179 Wn.2d 684, 693-94, 317 P.3d 987 (2014) (where material facts are disputed, trial is needed); *Staats v. Brown*, 139 Wn.2d 757, 764, 991 P.2d 615 (2000) (on summary judgment, all facts and inferences are construed most favorably to nonmoving party).

B. Does the Court of Appeals' decision regarding the affirmative acts doctrine conflict with the principle that "[a]ll persons have a duty to others to refrain from engaging in acts "which involve[] an unreasonable risk of harm to another." Restatement (Second) of Torts §§ 284 & 302 (1965), and with this Court's instruction that an appellate court, on summary judgment, should not resolve disputed material facts or draw reasonable factual inferences against the non-moving party? *See Camicia*

*v. Howard S. Wright Constr. Co.*, 179 Wn.2d 684, 693-94, 317 P.3d 987 (2014) (where material facts are disputed, trial is needed); *Staats v. Brown*, 139 Wn.2d 757, 764, 991 P.2d 615 (2000) (on summary judgment all facts and inferences are construed most favorably to nonmoving party).

C. Does the Court of Appeals' decision to grant Snohomish County broader immunity than afforded under Washington's Fish Habitat Enhancement law (RCW 36.70.982) in order to deny Plaintiffs' negligence claim against the County "involve[ ] an issue of substantial public interest," and does that decision violate this Court's instruction that an appellate court should resolve all reasonable factual inferences in favor of the non-moving party? *Staats v. Brown*, 139 Wn.2d 757, 764, 991 P.2d 615 (2000) (statutory immunity claims are determined under summary judgment standard; all facts and inferences are construed most favorably to nonmoving party)?

#### **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On March 22, 2014, a catastrophic landslide near Oso, Washington, destroyed the Steelhead Haven neighborhood, killing 43 people and injuring others. In two ways, the County's wrongdoing harmed Plaintiffs and contributed to the devastation of their lives. First, the County promised to warn the Steelhead Haven community at a March 11, 2006 meeting about future landslide risks, and then concealed from the

community what the County had decided just weeks before the meeting – that the next slide could kill people, that the County would not know the scope of the potential devastation unless it studied and monitored the hillside across the river, and that the County had decided to pursue neither of those things. See Appendix B (Appellants’ Opening Brief (Mar. 29, 2017) at 17-22; Appellants’ Response and Reply Brief (Sept. 5, 2017) at 12-17 and evidence cited therein. Second, the County actively participated in erecting a huge 1,500 foot Log Crib Wall (“Log Wall”) project that trapped thousands of tons of loose debris at the bottom of an unstable hillside across from Steelhead Haven, thus making the March 22, 2014 Oso Landslide more explosive and deadly, and thus more likely to bury the community. Appellants’ Opening Br. at 3-16; Appellants’ Response and Reply Br. at 10-12 and evidence cited therein.

The Superior Court found triable questions of negligence against the County. Applying the rescue doctrine, it held that the County undertook a duty to warn Plaintiffs of the risks associated with future landslides, and that as to some Plaintiffs (those present at and those who spoke with those present about the March 11, 2006 meeting), there was a triable question whether the County acted with reasonable care toward Plaintiffs. Appellants’ Opening Br. at 24 and evidence cited therein (CP 6979, CP 6728); Opening Br. at 40-41 and evidence cited therein (CP

7696). The Superior Court also held that Plaintiffs presented a triable case regarding the County's negligence in promoting, overseeing construction of and monitoring the Log Wall built on the river bank across from Steelhead Haven without considering whether storage of thousands of tons of loose debris behind the Log Wall could be unleashed in a lethal slurry when the next slide occurs. Appellants' Opening Br. at 23 and evidence cited therein (CP 2772-73; 4341); Appellants' Response and Reply Br. at 12 and evidence cited therein. The Superior Court nonetheless held that the County was immune from liability for such negligence under the Fish Habitat Enhancement Project statute, RCW 36.70.982; Appellants' Opening Br. at 24 (CP 4344-46).

Without even acknowledging that the trial court found a triable rescue claim as to some Plaintiffs, the Court of Appeals held that no Plaintiff had a triable claim under the rescue or affirmative acts doctrines. Op. at 19-25. The Court of Appeals also affirmed the Superior Court's holding that under RCW 36.70.982 the County was immune from accountability for its negligent conduct regarding the Log Wall project. Op. at 14-16.

**1. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED**

**A. This Court Should Accept Review to Correct the Court of Appeals' Misapplication of the Rescue Doctrine to Plaintiffs' Claims.**

The Court of Appeals recognized the centrality of *Brown v. McPherson's, Inc.*, 86 Wn.2d 293, 545 P.2d 13 (1975), which the Court described as “a close precedent factually” to Plaintiffs’ rescue doctrine claim against the County. Op. at 23. The Court of Appeals also correctly described *Brown* as recognizing a claim by owners and visitors to ski huts who died in an avalanche against the State where the State, with knowledge of the avalanche risk to the occupants of the ski huts:

met with William MacPherson, a real estate broker associated with the [ski hut] development, and led him “to erroneously believe that . . . no avalanche danger existed.” *Brown*, 86 Wn.2d at 298. The plaintiffs claimed that [the State’s] omissions deprived them of the opportunity to be forewarned of their danger by . . . MacPherson, and they were unable to avoid the losses they suffered when the avalanche that had been predicted actually occurred.

Op. at 24. Such facts “stated a claim of negligence by malfeasance and nonfeasance, both arising from the rescue doctrine.” Op. at 24.

The Court of Appeals then proceeded to conduct its own fact-finding to conclude that the County’s conduct at the March 11, 2006, meeting was “reasonable” and that such conduct did not cause Plaintiffs’ injuries. Op. at 18. To make this factual finding the Court of Appeals had to ignore the critical evidence of what the County withheld from the

community and sworn testimony of residents that they would have warned the community had the County shared what it actually knew. The trial court, looking at the same evidence, found it created a jury question on the issues of negligence and causation as to some Plaintiffs. Opening Br. at 24 and evidence cited therein (CP 6979, CP 6728).

In finding the County acted reasonably, the Court of Appeals noted there was no evidence that “County representatives sa[id] that the risk of danger from future slides was minimal or that the cribwall was a guarantee against a catastrophic event.” Op. at 22. This statement utterly mischaracterizes the factual basis for Plaintiffs’ rescue claim, and it exposes why appeals courts should not be in the business of fact-finding. Plaintiffs’ rescue claim is not grounded on the County having minimized slide risk or describing the Log Wall as a guarantee against a catastrophic event. Those who attended the meeting understood that slides would occur unpredictably in the future, as they had in the past, potentially blocking the river and creating a flood risk as had happened six weeks earlier. Appellants’ Opening Br. at 17-22; Appellants’ Response and Reply Br. at 12-14, and evidence cited therein. But the County said nothing about human life being at risk from future slides, and no resident walked away from the meeting believing that anyone’s life was at risk from future sliding. *Id.* Past slides had not injured anyone or reached any

homes, and the County gave attendees no reason to think otherwise – despite its own knowledge to the contrary, and its knowledge that the risk could be managed with a geotechnical study and monitoring, which it had elected not to do. *Id.*

In service of its fact-based opinion, the Court of Appeals further mangled Plaintiffs’ rescue claim by asserting the claim was limited to the County’s failure to “specifically discuss the catastrophic possibility identified in the 1999 Miller report – that a future landslide could be an order of magnitude larger than the previous one, as catastrophic and life threatening as the Oso slide that actually occurred on March 22, 2014.” Op. at 22.<sup>1</sup> This is an inaccurate and reductionist description of the evidence presented by Plaintiffs – the non-moving parties. While Plaintiffs did allege that the County should have discussed the possibility of a future slide being ten times larger than recent past slides, that claim was made in the context of the County’s knowledge that the neighboring Rowan Landslide had crossed the entire valley in a fast-moving –

---

<sup>1</sup> Along the same lines, the Court of Appeals concluded that the County acted reasonably because “Plaintiffs have not shown that anything said at the meeting could reasonably be interpreted as a promise that the cribwall would confine the debris runoff from future slides so that residents would be safe in their homes.” Op. at 25. This statement again exposes the Court of Appeals’ overreach. As detailed on pp. 9-12 below, Plaintiffs did not allege that the County so promised. Plaintiffs claimed that the County promised to warn of future landslide risks, and then concealed critical facts that would have heightened concern for loss of human life. Appellants’ Opening Br. at 17-22; Appellants’ Response and Reply Br. at 12-14, and evidence cited therein.

inescapable – debris flow. Appellants’ Opening Br. at 13 and evidence cited therein. The Court of Appeals found that it was reasonable for the County not to discuss a catastrophic slide that would kill everyone in the neighboring community, but the County failed to discuss *any* risk to human life at all.

Most critically – and again, completely ignored by the Court of Appeals – a few weeks before the March 11, 2006 meeting, County personnel had concluded that the January 2006 slide might have made the hill more unstable, that it might now pose a danger to human life in Steelhead Haven, that a geotechnical study of the hillside was necessary to better understand the real danger to Steelhead Haven given the potential danger to human life, that the hillside should be monitored for physical movement so as to provide early warning of the next failure, and most gallingly, that the County had elected to do nothing about it. Appellants’ Opening Br. at 11-13 (CP 6002; 6136-38; 6141; 6143-47; 6230-32; 6236; 6239; 6241; 6263-64; 6259-60; 6279). In pivotal disregard of Plaintiffs’ safety, the County said nothing at the March 11, 2006 community meeting about what it knew and what it had decided not to do about future landslide risks. CP 6002; 6233-35; *see also* CP 6005; CP 6233-35. Demonstrating why appellate courts are ill-suited to the fact-finding

process, the Court of Appeals failed to discuss any of this critical and damning evidence.

On the question of the County's negligent omissions causing Plaintiffs' harm, the Court of Appeals made the even more egregious fact-finding that "[t]he record does not support that the allegation that the County lulled residents into believing they were safe and that there was no need to take action." Op. at 19. Yet John Pennington, the County's own former Emergency Management Director, admitted that the County's actions in sponsoring the Log Wall and communicating with Steelhead Haven made the community "feel safe." CP 5954. That makes sense when the County uttered not a word about risk to human life, and community members were accustomed to dealing with occasional river blockage and flooding.

Mr. Pennington's admission was echoed by Plaintiff Seth Jefferds, a volunteer firefighter known to all in the community, who attended the meeting and walked away believing that the slide did not pose a danger to the lives of his family or his neighbors. Appellants' Opening Br. at 21 (CP 6257-58). Mr. Steven Sewell, a fire department professional, also attended the March 11, 2006 meeting, and believed he and his family were safe even though he knew that future slides were likely to occur. *Id.* (CP 6264). Mr. Ron Thompson, the self-styled "Mayor of Steelhead Haven,"

also attended and left the meeting feeling content and safe. *Id.* (CP 6873-77). Again, he understood that future slides were likely to occur, but he had no understanding that human life was at risk. *Id.*

Messrs. Thompson, Jefferds and Sewell testified that had the County not concealed what the County knew – that after the 2006 slide the hillside across from them may pose a danger to human life when the next slide happened, that no one would know the true scope of the danger without a study and monitoring of the hill which the County had decided not to pursue – those leaders of their small community would have forced action and warned the community. Appellants’ Opening Br. at 21 and evidence cited therein. The Court of Appeals cited *none* of this evidence in contradicting the trial court’s orders that questions of material fact existed (Appellants’ Opening Br. at 40-41 (CP 7696)) and concluding that the County’s omissions did not cause Plaintiffs’ harm.<sup>2</sup>

Yet in misleading them into feeling safe, the County “depriv[ed] the [Messrs. Thompson, Sewell and Jefferds] of the possibility of help from other sources.” *Folsom v. Burger King*, 135 Wn.2d 658, 676, 958

---

<sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeals also found that “the County did not deprive the attendees of the opportunity to be informed about the risks of landslides and in fact encouraged them to seek out more information.” Op. at 25. Cherry-picking the record, the Court of Appeals simply ignored that the County concealed that the hillside may have become dangerous to human life, that the hillside needed a geotechnical investigation and physical monitoring, and that County had decided to do nothing. No one encouraged residents to conduct their own study or monitoring, and the residents had no idea such study and monitoring were necessary to understand the true danger to them.

P.2d 301 (1998). Messrs. Jefferds, Sewell and Thompson stood in precisely the same relation to the other Plaintiffs as did Mr. MacPherson to the plaintiffs in *Brown*. The County's negligence thus made all Plaintiffs' situation worse in the same manner as plaintiffs in *Brown*, and, with substitution for characters, the *Brown* holding applies directly to the full record before the Court:

If the [County's] agents, acting out of concern for the safety of appellants and others similarly situated, negligently or intentionally conveyed the impression that the danger of [landslides] was less than it was to [those attending the March 11, 2006 meeting] (or anyone else), causing [them] to refrain from action on [plaintiffs'] behalf [they] otherwise would have taken, the [County] is answerable for any damage caused by that misimpression.

86 Wn. 2d at 299-300.<sup>3</sup>

A robust record exists that the County's omissions caused Plaintiffs' harm, none of which the Court of Appeals cited, and the determination of whether negligent omissions cause harm is generally the province of the jury, not a court of appeals reviewing fragments of the

---

<sup>3</sup> The Court of Appeals also "found" that the "County's warnings of the danger of future slides did not make the situation of the Steelhead haven residents worse than if the County had not held a meeting." That finding contradicts the evidence. Messrs. Jefferds, Sewell and Thompson all went to the meeting because they were concerned about future landslide risks. They left the meeting assuaged in their knowledge that future sliding would pose no danger to life and that the County and Tribe were building a wall on the other side. Had they not been misled, a jury could infer that they would have sought more information about the risk to human life. They were in at least as strong a position as Mr. MacPherson in *Brown* who – along with the plaintiffs in *Brown* – were placed in a worse position than if the government had not spoken to them at all.

record. *Schooley v. Pinch's Deli Market, Inc.*, 80 Wn. App. 862, 868-69, 912 P.2d 1044 (1996).

**B. This Court Should Accept Review to Correct the Court of Appeals' Misapplication of the Affirmative Acts Negligence Doctrine to Plaintiffs' Claims.**

Plaintiffs also asserted that the County was negligent in affirmatively and actively participating in the huge 1500 foot Log Wall project that trapped thousands of tons of loose debris at the bottom of an unstable hillside across from Steelhead Haven, without considering whether that loose debris could be unleashed in a lethal slurry when the next slide occurs – precisely what happened on March 22, 2014.

It is a fundamental principle of Washington law that all persons have a duty to others to refrain from engaging in acts “which involve[] an unreasonable risk of harm to another.” Restatement (Second) of Torts §§ 284 & 302 (1965). If one “acts at all, [he or she] must exercise reasonable care to make his [or her] acts safe for others.” *Id.* § 4 cmt. b. This principle is part of the very foundation of Washington tort law: By creating the risk of harm to others, the defendant is charged with a duty to use reasonable care to see that injury to others does not occur. This principle encompasses the vast majority of tort cases, and because of its intuitive simplicity, no one gives a second thought to whether the defendant owed a duty to use reasonable care.

16 DeWolf, Wash. Prac., § 2:4 (4th ed. 2015) (citations omitted)

In evaluating Plaintiffs' affirmative acts negligence claim, the Court of Appeals first erred in assuming that Plaintiffs' affirmative acts negligence claim was based on Section 302B of the Restatement (Second) of Torts (Am. Law Inst. 1965), which involves the highly particularized

circumstance where a defendant (usually the government) creates an unreasonable risk of harm to another through the criminal conduct of a third party. Op. at 26. While Section 302B has been adopted by this Court, it does not define the limits of the affirmative acts doctrine, which states a general rule of Washington negligence law. With the waiver of sovereign immunity, the County is subject to the general principle that when taking affirmative action, a person (whether an individual, corporation or the government) must not create an unreasonable risk of harm to another. Here, the County acted unreasonably through its affirmative support for the Log Wall without giving the slightest consideration to whether storing thousands of tons of loose debris at the bottom of an unstable slope might make the next slide event far more dangerous to the people across the river.

Second, the Court of Appeals erred in unfairly narrowing Plaintiffs' affirmative acts negligence claim. The Court of Appeals found "that there has been no showing that the County's act of distributing information at the community meeting exposed the residents to the risk of the coming slide." Op. at 26. Even if one were to accept the conclusion that a defendant must unreasonably increase the physical risk to the plaintiff, the Court of Appeals failed entirely to address Plaintiffs' additional claim that the County exposed them to an unreasonable risk of

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