FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/22/2019 1:36 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 96796-2

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RYAN PSZONKA, et al.,

Appellants,

v.

## SNOHOMISH COUNTY,

Respondent.

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM CORNELL Snohomish County Prosecuting Attorney

Joseph B. Genster, WSBA #14968 Michael C. Held, WSBA #19696 Deputy Prosecuting Attorneys Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, MIS #504 Everett, WA 98201 (425) 388-3333

HARRIGAN LEYH FARMER & THOMSEN LLP

Timothy G. Leyh, WSBA #14853 Randall T. Thomsen, WSBA #25310 Kristin E. Ballinger, WSBA #28253 999 Third Ave., Suite 4400 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 623-1700

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

## IV. REASONS FOR DENYING THE PETITION

### A. Plaintiffs Fail to Justify Review.

Plaintiffs fail to justify review under the only bases they invoke, that the *issue* (not the case) is "of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court" or the decision conflicts with decisions of this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4). Regarding the latter (a claimed conflict), the Court of Appeals applied established Supreme Court precedent in holding that the County did not create a duty to warn by holding a meeting with community residents to discuss ongoing landslide and flooding risks posed by a nearby hazard. *See* Decision at 23-25. The holding plaintiffs criticize as involving improper fact finding (Decision at 21-22) was an alternative holding and grounded in the County's arguments that liability cannot attach for what someone allegedly failed to say *eight years before* an unforeseen natural disaster.

Nor is the issue about statutory immunity for fish habitat projects

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> With the exception that the County flood plan did not refer to the County as having any role in the Tribe's project. *Compare* Decision at 6 (flood plan "recommended that the County should implement a stabilization project") with CP 742, 894-95.

of "substantial public interest." RCW 36.70.982 says a county "is not liable" for projects described by the statute and permitted by the State, and it is only through adding words, speculation, and supposed intent that plaintiffs claim it does not apply. *See* Decision at 16 ("Because the statute's meaning is clear based on its text, our inquiry is at an end.").

While this case involves a nationally publicized natural disaster and a significant loss of life, it does not present legal issues justifying review. This Court does not accept review of cases solely because they involve extraordinary events or tragic outcomes. *E.g., Karr v. State*, 112 Wn.2d 1011 (1989) (denying review of decision affirming summary judgment against personal representatives of 14 of the 60 people killed in Mount St. Helens eruption). Because the issues do not meet "one or more of the tests" of RAP 13.4(b) (*see* RAP 13.4(c)(7)), review is unwarranted.

- B. Review Is Not Warranted of the Issues Related to Dismissal of Claims Arising from the March 2006 Meeting.
  - 1. The court did not err in applying settled law (Issue A1).

Plaintiffs do not seek a new rule of law about the rescue doctrine. Instead, they ask the Court to correct perceived errors by the Court of Appeals in evaluating evidence. "As the highest court in the state, the Supreme Court is a court of law, 'not a court of error correction." 2 Washington Appellate Practice Deskbook § 18.2(5) (4th ed. 2016) (citation omitted).

a. Plaintiffs ignore clear statements of law in *Brown* and *Osborn* that were dispositive because plaintiffs failed to offer evidence of reliance.

Plaintiffs erroneously claim that the court's application of the rescue doctrine "conflict[s]" with Brown v. MacPherson's, Inc., 86 Wn.2d 293, 545 P.2d 13 (1975). It does not. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that plaintiffs failed to prove the necessary requirements for the rescue doctrine to apply. Under *Brown* and the subsequent case construing it, Osborn v. Mason County, 157 Wn.2d 18, 134 P.3d 197 (2006), a "duty exists under the rescue doctrine only if an injured party reasonably relies on the assurances" made and is harmed as a result. Osborn, 157 Wn.2d at 23, 25; see Brown, 86 Wn.2d at 300 (duty arises from "promises which induce reliance, causing the promisee to refrain from seeking help elsewhere and thereby worsening his or her situation"). "[R]eliance is the linchpin of the rescue doctrine." 157 Wn.2d at 25. Plaintiffs all but ignore this independent basis for the court's decision affirming dismissal of their duty to warn claim (and fail even to cite Osborn), that plaintiffs failed to present any evidence of reliance.

Plaintiffs claim the County provided inadequate information about landslide risks at a meeting the County held in March 2006 after a large landslide dammed the North Fork Stillaguamish River and moved it 700 feet southward, causing widespread flooding and property damage. *E.g.*,

CP 376, 944, 1528, 6746, 6756-58. The County invited the community to the meeting by letter, stating that the purpose was "to discuss some of the short term and long term risks to the area associated with the recent slide and to facilitate the community planning to address these issues." CP 5540 (emphasis added). At the meeting, a County geologist warned audience members that landslides and flooding would continue on a "sporadic and unpredictable" basis and explained a LIDAR image that showed that the valley was full of historic landslides of great magnitude. E.g., CP 5552, 5555-58, 5563-64, 5579, 5861. Other presenters urged the community to protect themselves. CP 5578-79, 5586-90, 6746. Plaintiffs nonetheless allege that the County did not provide enough information about the risks, and that the meeting created a duty to everyone for all time, even to people who never lived in the community, did not attend or hear about the meeting, moved into the community years later, or simply traveled on Highway 530.

The County's meeting was entirely unlike what was alleged to have happened in *Brown*, where this Court held that the State could be liable if the State's statement that there was no avalanche danger "caus[ed appellants' broker] to refrain from action on appellants' behalf he otherwise would have taken." 86 Wn.2d at 299. A plaintiff relying on the rescue doctrine must prove reliance, and in *Osborn* the Court explained

why cases interpreting *Brown* otherwise were wrong: "in *Brown*, a duty existed because the injured parties reasonably relied on their broker to warn them of danger . . . and the public entity caused the broker to believe no danger existed." 157 Wn.2d at 26. Absent proof of reliance on the warning, there is no duty. 86 Wn.2d at 300 (rescue doctrine requires "reliance," *i.e.*, that the promised action "worsen[ed] his or her situation"); 157 Wn.2d at 25 ("reliance is the linchpin of the rescue doctrine").

Plaintiffs offered no evidence the County's meeting made anyone's situation worse than had the County held no meeting at all. For instance, the meeting dissuaded no one from investigating the landslide risks or the Tribe's proposed project, and caused no one to stay in the neighborhood when he or she otherwise would have left. The Court of Appeals recognized that

[t]he County did not deprive the attendees of the opportunity to be informed about the risks of landslides and in fact encouraged them to seek out more information. The County's warnings of the danger of future slides did not make the situation of the Steelhead Haven residents worse than if the County had not held a meeting.

Decision at 25. This lack of evidence of reliance is dispositive: the County owed no duty to any person because none presented evidence of reliance.

The Court of Appeals correctly applied *Brown* and *Osborn*. The court considered plaintiffs' interpretation of *Brown*, took account of

Osborn which interpreted Brown, and rejected plaintiffs' attempt to ignore the reliance element. The Court of Appeals' decision is not "in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(1). To the contrary, the decision is entirely consistent with prior rulings of the Court.

b. Review is not warranted of the Court of Appeals' alternative holding that the County's conduct was reasonable.

Plaintiffs seek review primarily based on their contention that the Court of Appeals erred in evaluating the facts in determining that plaintiffs failed to present evidence that the County acted unreasonably at the March 2006 meeting. There is no reason to review this issue, for the primary reason that without evidence of reliance (discussed *supra*) it is immaterial whether plaintiffs could prove breach. But there also is no basis under RAP 13.4(b) to review this determination.

Plaintiffs do not allege that the court's decision *conflicts* with this Court's prior decisions (*see* RAP 13.4(b)(1)), but instead argue that the court erred in determining that facts were not in dispute. That is not a basis for discretionary review. Plaintiffs point to *Camicia v. Howard S. Wright Constr. Co.*, 179 Wn.2d 684, 317 P.3d 987 (2014), and *Staats v. Brown*, 139 Wn.2d 757, 991 P.2d 615 (2000), as justifying review here, but in those cases the Court did not grant review to correct a perceived error in application of the summary judgment standard. Rather, in each,

the Court accepted review to issue new rules of law about the scope of immunity. Here, plaintiffs identify no issue of law to be decided: they merely claim that the Court of Appeals misinterpreted the evidence.

In addition, the court's holding was independent of, and alternative to, its holding that no duty existed because no plaintiff relied on the warnings the County provided at the meeting (see previous section).

Because the County owed no duty, the reasonableness of the County's communications is not material. Indeed, the County never sought summary judgment on the reasonableness of its conduct (i.e., breach) and did not argue that issue on appeal. While the County did not seek that ruling, the County did seek summary judgment on legal causation. The County's legal causation argument (presented on appeal as an alternative basis to affirm and discussed in the next section) is echoed in the Court of Appeals' analysis of the reasonableness of the County's actions.

Finally, the Court of Appeals was correct, the warnings at the meeting were, as a matter of law, reasonable. The court was entitled to rely on this alternative ground because it was supported by the record. See Otis Hous. Ass'n, Inc. v. Ha, 165 Wn.2d 582, 587, 201 P.3d 309 (2009). The meeting's purpose was not to instill a sense of safety, but the opposite, "to discuss . . . risks to the area associated with the recent slide and to facilitate the community planning to address these issues." CP

5540. Plaintiffs identify two alleged omissions: (1) a statement from a 1999 report that a future slide could involve "an order of magnitude" more material (a possibility the report itself characterized as "speculative"); and (2) that a County hydrologist had questioned whether the County should study or monitor the slide. Pet. at 8-9. As to the first, the Court of Appeals rightly recognized that the report—prepared seven years before the meeting—characterized the possibility of a larger volume slide as "speculative." As to the second, there is *always* something more that could be done to study or monitor *any* natural hazard. Failure to note those facts is not unreasonable particularly when the County *did* warn those that attended the March 2006 meeting that it intended to take no future action. As the Court of Appeals held, "The record does not support the allegation that the County lulled residents into believing they were safe and that there was no need to take action." Decision at 19.

Because "the tests established in section (b)" of RAP 13.4 do not

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Dr. Miller, the report's author and geologist most knowledgeable about the landslide, testified that he never anticipated a slide with a runout like the Oso Landslide. CP 5639. He visited the Steelhead Haven community after the January 2006 slide and, even then, neither perceived nor warned the community that the landslide posed any greater risk than he described in his 1999 report. CP 5510-24, 5637-39, 5475-76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> E.g., CP 5578-79 ("I remember [the speaker] very clearly stating that . . . the residents needed to get together and [take] . . . some sort of effort to save themselves, because this event would happen again, and they needed to be able to protect themselves."); CP 6746 ("The gist of what they told us was that the community could not expect . . . the County and the Army Corps of Engineers to come to the rescue in the future.").

include review of a claimed error in applying the summary judgment standard, discretionary review is unwarranted. *See* RAP 13.4(c)(7).

## 2. Additional bases support dismissal of these claims.

Review also is unwarranted because additional and independent bases support the dismissal of claims related to the March 2006 meeting, making review futile. But, if the Court takes review of the rescue doctrine issue, the Court should review these bases as well.

a. The County's warnings at a meeting eight years before the March 2014 landslide were not a legal cause of plaintiffs' injuries (Issue A2).

The County's warnings at a meeting held in 2006, eight years before the 2014 landslide, were not a legal cause of plaintiffs' injuries.

See McCoy v. Am. Suzuki Motor Corp., 136 Wn.2d 350, 360, 961 P.2d 952 (1998) (consideration of legal causation allows the court to "exercise[] its gatekeeper function . . . if the defendant's actions are too remote a cause of plaintiff's injuries"); Hartley v. State, 103 Wn.2d 768, 779, 698 P.2d 77 (1985) (legal causation "involves a determination of whether liability should attach as a matter of law" based on "mixed considerations of logic, common sense, justice, policy, and precedent"). The Court of Appeals did not reach this independent basis to affirm.

Of the dozens of people whose claims are prosecuted in this appeal, only five lived in Steelhead Haven at the time of the meeting or

had a relative who did. CP 5808-14, 5817. Many were in or near the community by chance when the Oso Landslide happened, including one driving on Highway 530. E.g., CP 4552, 4554, 4555. The evidence was uncontroverted that none heeded the warnings the County did provide or its recommendation that the community take action to protect itself. E.g., CP 5016-17. Those warnings left one attendee concerned about the safety of persons living in the area. CP 5579, 5581. In addition, plaintiffs argued that it was the Tribe's redesign and siting of the revetment, installation of sediment ponds, and channelization of runoff that made the slide so dangerous. CP 8782-83. All of this happened months and years after the County's meeting and with the knowledge and assent of the State on whose land it was built.<sup>5</sup> See Restatement (Second) of Torts § 433 cmt. f (no legal cause when the act was "unsubstantial as compared to the aggregate of the other factors which have contributed"). Finally, plaintiffs acknowledged that no one, including leading geologists familiar with the site, did or could have predicted the Oso Landslide. CP 5691, 5699-5700.

Those facts, and the eight-year gap between the 2006 meeting and the 2014 landslide, make any alleged County omissions in its meeting far

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The State had a judgment entered against it in this case for \$50 million and the timber company defendant settled for \$10 million. *See* No. 14-2-18401-8, Dkt. Nos. 1084, 1085 (King Cty. Sup. Ct. Oct. 10, 2016).

Appeals held, "If liability could so easily be imposed for things unsaid at public safety meetings, governmental entities would cease holding meetings about natural and manmade disasters altogether, leaving communities worse off." Decision at 25. Imposing liability for these alleged omissions in a meeting eight years before the Oso Landslide discourages anyone—not just governments—from educating a community about known hazards. It would be illogical, unjust, and contrary to public policy to impose responsibility on the County for the deaths, injuries, and property damage caused by an unforeseen natural disaster which even the foremost geologists did not predict, not on its own land and not of its own making, solely because eight years earlier it allegedly provided incomplete information while trying to convince the community to act.

# b. Flood Control Act immunity applies to the communications at the meeting (Issue A3).

The Court of Appeals did not reach the question of whether the Flood Control Act (RCW 86.12.037) immunized the County's communications at the March 2006 meeting. RCW 86.12.037 provides:

No action shall be brought or maintained against any county . . . for any noncontractual acts or omissions of such county . . . relating to the improvement, protection, regulation, and control for flood prevention and navigation purposes of any river or its tributaries and the beds, banks, and waters thereof . . . .

Because communicating or leaving something out of a communication is an act or omission,<sup>6</sup> and the County's meeting related to protection from, or prevention of, floods, the statute immunizes the County for what it said or allegedly failed to say at the meeting.

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